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INTRODUCTION


		This Decision sustains a formal Complaint filed by a customer of an electric generation supplier who complained that there are incorrect charges on his bills.  The Complainant has sustained his burden of demonstrating that the electric generation supplier has violated the Commission’s regulation regarding telemarketing and bill format and, therefore, a civil penalty will be imposed on the electric generation supplier.  The Complainant has also sustained his burden to demonstrate that he was not billed consistent with marketed prices and, therefore, he is entitled to a refund of the amount he was over billed.

HISTORY OF THE PROCEEDING

[bookmark: _GoBack]On March 3, 2014, Stephen Kiback, Jr., filed a formal Complaint with the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) against IDT Energy, Inc. (IDT or “the Company”), Docket Number C-2014-2409676.  In his Complaint, Mr. Kiback averred that IDT tripled the amount the Company charged him for electric generation and transmission.  Mr. Kiback stated that he is on social security and cannot afford the increases.  Mr. Kiback stated that IDT indicated it would save him 10% over PPL but that he has not realized such savings.  Mr. Kiback requested that he be refunded the money he was overcharged and attached to his Complaint copies of several monthly bills in support of his position.

On April 25, 2014, IDT filed an Answer in response to Mr. Kiback’s Complaint.  In its Answer, IDT admitted that Mr. Kiback’s charges from IDT increased due to the large increases in wholesale electricity costs during January and February, 2014.  IDT further stated that it offered to retroactively apply a rate adjustment to Mr. Kiback’s usage for the periods impacted by the wholesale price spikes but that it has not been able to confirm Mr. Kiback’s satisfaction with this refund offer.  

On July 3, 2014, the Commission issued a Telephonic Hearing Notice establishing an Initial Telephonic Hearing for this matter for Wednesday, August 20, 2014 at 10:00 a.m. and assigning me as the Presiding Officer.  A Prehearing Order dated July 11, 2014 was issued setting forth various procedural rules that would govern the hearing.

On July 29, 2014, IDT filed a Motion for Summary Judgment.  In its Motion for Summary Judgment, which was accompanied by a Notice to Plead, IDT averred that a hearing in this case is unnecessary because, even if all of the averments in Mr. Kiback’s Complaint are proven, those facts do not set forth a claim for which relief can be granted.  In support of its Motion, IDT attached several documents, including an Affidavit from its Vice President of Customer Service and Regulatory Compliance that included a copy of the Disclosure Statement and details of Mr. Kiback’s usage history.

As a result of IDT’s Motion for Summary Judgment, Prehearing Order #2 was issued formally cancelling the Telephonic Hearing scheduled for Wednesday, August 20, 2014 pending disposition of the Motion.  The Commission issued a formal Cancellation Notice on August 5, 2014.  

On August 21, 2014, the Office of Consumer Advocate (OCA) filed a Notice of Intervention and Public Statement formally intervening into this matter.
Also on August 21, 2014, the OCA filed an Answer in response to IDT’s Motion.  In its Answer, the OCA argued that Mr. Kiback raised questions concerning the marketing and billing conduct of IDT as a licensed electric generation supplier (EGS).  The OCA averred that there are genuine issues of material fact in dispute and that, based on the record, IDT is not entitled to summary judgment and its Motion should be denied.  No other Answer was received in response to IDT’s Motion.  

By Order dated September 2, 2014, IDT’s Motion was denied.  The Motion was denied because, when viewing the Complaint in the light most favorable to Mr. Kiback, a genuine issue of material fact exists and it was not clear that IDT was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  Mr. Kiback’s Complaint was set for a Hearing.  As a result, on September 4, 2014, the Commission issued a Hearing Cancellation/Reschedule Notice rescheduling the Initial Telephonic Hearing for Monday, October 27, 2014 at 2:00 p.m.  Prehearing Order #3 was issued on September 5, 2014 confirming the establishment of the Initial Telephonic Hearing.

The Hearing convened on October 27, 2014, as scheduled.  Mr. Kiback appeared pro se.  Michael A. Gruin, Esquire, appeared on behalf of IDT and presented one witness who sponsored two exhibits that were admitted into the record.  Hobart Webster, Esquire, appeared on behalf of the OCA.  A transcript of 49 pages was created.

The record in this case closed on November 18, 2014 when the transcript was submitted to the Commission.  Mr. Kiback’s Complaint is now ready for disposition.  For the reasons discussed further below, Mr. Kiback’s Complaint will be sustained.  A civil penalty will be imposed on IDT for violating the Commission’s regulation regarding telemarketing and bill format.  In addition, IDT will be directed to refund Mr. Kiback the amount he was overbilled.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. The Complainant in this case is Stephen Kiback, Jr.

2. The Respondent in this case is IDT Energy, Inc.
3. The Service Address is 407 Clinton Street, Jersey Shore, PA.

4. Mr. Kiback complained about increases to his rate for electric service for the months of January and February, 2014.  Tr. 12.

5. Mr. Kiback never received a written contract regarding his rate for electricity but enrolled over the phone.  Tr. 12, 14.

6. Mr. Kiback enrolled with IDT because he was guaranteed a rate 10% below PPL’s rate.  Tr. 13, 15, 19.

7. Mr. Kiback received a letter from IDT when he first enrolled confirming that he would become their customer.  Tr. 16.

8. Mr. Kiback believed he had a guaranteed fixed rate that would be lower than PPL’s rate.  Tr. 17.

9. The first time Mr. Kiback became concerned about the difference between what IDT was billing him and what he was promised when he enrolled was in 2014.  Tr. 18.

10. Wayne Stoughton is employed with IDT as its vice-president of customer service and regulatory compliance and has been employed with IDT since March, 2005.  Tr. 27.

11. Mr. Kiback first enrolled with IDT on July 5, 2011 as a result of an outbound telemarketing sales call.  Tr. 29.

12. Every customer that enrolls with IDT is mailed a welcome letter, a copy of the IDT disclosure statement and a letter from the utility confirming the customer’s request to change suppliers.  Tr. 29.

13. IDT Exhibit 2 is the IDT disclosure statement that is mailed to customers who enroll with IDT in Pennsylvania.  IDT Exh. No. 2; Tr. 29.

14. IDT has never offered a fixed rate service.  Tr. 30.
15. The disclosure statement explains that IDT’s rate is a variable rate that varies from month to month and could be higher or lower than the utility’s rate with no ceiling.  IDT Exh. No. 2; Tr. 30, 32.

16. The disclosure statement was sent to Mr. Kiback via first class mail and was not returned to the Company as undeliverable.  Tr. 31.

17. Mr. Kiback ceased being a customer of IDT in March, 2014.  Tr. 31.

18. IDT Exhibit Number 1 is a report showing Mr. Kiback’s billing history with IDT that shows Mr. Kiback’s monthly electricity consumption and what he was charged each month.  IDT Exh. No. 1; Tr. 31-32.

19. IDT offers promotions no longer than two months related to what the customer’s rate would be compared to the utility’s rate.  Tr. 32-33.

20. Every telemarketing agent on behalf of IDT is trained to explain to customers that IDT’s prices are not or will not be guaranteed to be below the utility’s prices and are provided a detailed script to explain its promotions.  Tr. 33.

21. IDT has no record of Mr. Kiback calling to complain about the rate IDT was charging him in 2011, 2012 or 2013.  Tr. 33-34.

22. In Pennsylvania, IDT’s charges are billed by the electric distribution company (EDC), which, in this case, is PPL.  Tr. 34.

23. On February 26, 2014, IDT received a call from a woman who identified herself as Mr. Kiback’s wife and canceled the service with IDT.  Tr. 34-35.

24. The woman who called IDT to cancel service was offered a longevity promotion if she would remain a customer and indicated she would call back to inform IDT if she wanted to remain a customer.  Tr. 34-35.

25. On March 3, 2014, the woman called IDT back and indicated that she enrolled with another EGS.  Tr. 35.

26. Mr. Kiback’s enrollment with IDT ended on March 19, 2014.  Tr. 35.

27. IDT offered Mr. Kiback rebate checks of $56.11 and $152.00 but he did not cash either check.  Tr. 36.

28. The retail prices that IDT charges customers for electric generation supply are based in large part on IDT’s wholesale cost of acquiring electricity.  Tr. 37.

29. In early 2014, there was a wholesale price spike in the energy markets which resulted in higher than normal prices for many Pennsylvania retail electric customers who were on a variable rate plan.  Tr. 37-38.

30. IDT does not record every incoming and outgoing sales call.  Tr. 39.

31. IDT customers can cancel their enrollment with IDT at any time after receiving the disclosure statement without penalty.  Tr. 41.

32. A female participated in the third-party verification call to enroll Mr. Kiback’s account to IDT after indicating that she was authorized to enroll the account with IDT.  Tr. 42.

DISCUSSION

		Section 332(a) of the Public Utility Code provides that the party seeking relief from the Commission has the burden of proof.  66 Pa.C.S. § 332(a).  "Burden of proof" means a duty to establish a fact by a preponderance of the evidence, or evidence more convincing, by even the smallest degree, than the evidence presented by the other party.  Se-Ling Hosiery v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 54, 70 A.2d 854 (1950).  In this proceeding, Mr. Kiback would like a refund of amounts he believes he was overcharged during the winter of 2014 for electric generation service.  Mr. Kiback, therefore, has the burden of proof in this proceeding.
If a complainant establishes a prima facie case, the burden of going forward with the evidence shifts to the utility.  If a utility does not rebut that evidence, the complainant will prevail.  If the utility rebuts the complainant's evidence, the burden of going forward with the evidence shifts back to the complainant, who must rebut the utility's evidence by a preponderance of the evidence.  The burden of going forward with the evidence may shift from one party to another, but the burden of proof never shifts; it always remains on a complainant.  Replogle v. Pennsylvania Electric Company, 54 Pa. PUC 528 (1980) (Replogle), and Waldron v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 54 Pa. PUC 98 (1980).

The decision of the Commission must be supported by substantial evidence.  2 Pa.C.S. § 704.  "Substantial evidence" is such relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  More is required than a mere trace of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact sought to be established.  Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 489 Pa. 109, 413 A.2d 1037 (1980); Erie Resistor Corp. v. Unemployment Comp. Bd. of Review, 194 Pa. Superior Ct. 278, 166 A.2d 96 (1961); and Murphy v. Comm., Dept. of Public Welfare, White Haven Center, 85 Pa. Cmwlth Ct. 23, 480 A.2d 382 (1984).

In this case, Mr. Kiback complained that his bill for electric generation service increased by three times or more than the usual amount during the winter of 2014.  Tr. 7.  In response, IDT presented the testimony of Wayne Stoughton, the vice-president of customer service and regulatory compliance.  Tr. 27.  Mr. Stoughton testified that Mr. Kiback was properly enrolled with IDT and properly billed in accordance with the standard variable rate disclosure statement.  Tr. 28.  Mr. Stoughton further testified that “Mr. Kiback’s rate for electric generation service did increase in January, February and March, 2014 due to the extremely high wholesale electricity costs which were caused by the polar event.”  Tr. 28.  Mr. Stoughton sponsored as an exhibit a copy of IDT’s disclosure statement for its variable rate service in support of his testimony that Mr. Kiback’s Complaint should be dismissed.  IDT Exh. No. 2; Tr. 29.
 
Commission regulations govern various aspects of service provided by EGSs.  For example, the Commission has regulations governing bill format and disclosure statements for residential and small business customers, standards of conduct and disclosure of licensees, Code of Conduct and Consumer Protections.  See, 52 Pa.Code §§ 54.4, 54.5, 54.43, 54.122 and 54.112.  Most relevant to this case, however, is the Commission’s regulation governing telemarketing.  

Section 111.10 of the Commission’s regulations provides in pertinent part: “a supplier and its agent shall comply with the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act (15 U.S.C.A. §§ 6101-6108) and 16 CFR Part 310 (relating to telemarketing sales rule).”  52 Pa.Code § 111.10(a)(3).  The telemarketing sales rule specifically prohibits:

before a customer consents to pay for goods or services offered, failing to disclose truthfully, in a clear and conspicuous manner, … the total costs to purchase, receive or use, and the quantity of, any goods or services that are the subject of the sales offer; [and] all material restrictions, limitations or conditions to purchase, receive, or use the goods or services that are the subject of the sales offer.

16 CFR § 310.3(a)(1)(i)-(ii).  Similarly, the telemarketing sales rule also prohibits “misrepresenting, directly or by implication, in the sale of goods or services… (1) the total costs to purchase, receive, or use, and the quantity of, any goods or services that are subject to a sales offer; [and] (2) any material restriction, limitation or condition to purchase, receive, or use goods or services that are the subject of a sales offer.”  16 CFR § 310.3(a)(2).  In this case, Mr. Kiback has satisfied his burden to demonstrate that IDT violated Section 111.10 of the Commission’s regulations.

In response to Mr. Kiback’s averment in his Complaint that “when I agreed to have IDT Energy generate and transmit my electricity, they said they would save me 10% over PPL,” the issue regarding Mr. Kiback’s enrollment with IDT was discussed during the evidentiary hearing.  On cross-examination, for example, Mr. Kiback testified that he enrolled with IDT in response to a phone call from a telemarketing sales agent.  Tr. 14.  Mr. Kiback added:

Q.	How long did that telephone call last?

A.	Well, they called a couple of times.  It wasn’t only once.  They just more or less made it sound good; that they could be 10 percent lower than PPL, which you did at the beginning, and then it just kept going up, like I said in my letter.  In fact, I even give you the wattage in the letter.

Q.	That’s okay.  That’s okay, Mr. Kiback.  I just want to focus more on this telephone enrollment, if I could.  Are you sure that the agent told you that the rate would be beneath PPL, the PPL rate?

A.	Sir, why would I change over to you if it would be the same or higher?

Q.	Let me ask you again.  Are you sure that you heard the sales agent say that the IDT rate would be below the PPL rate?

A.	Yes, sir, I did.  That’s why I switched over.

Q.	Now, isn’t it the case that the sales agent said that the rate would be below PPL’s for a certain period of time of one to two months?

A.	No, sir, they did not.  Well, now listen.  If you heard me with the Judge, I give you approximately four or five months there and sometimes it went down from my first bill.

Tr. 15-16; see also, Tr. 19.  Cross-examination then continued regarding the welcome letter and disclosure statement Mr. Kiback was subsequently sent after enrolling with IDT.  Tr. 16-17.

In response to Mr. Kiback’s testimony, IDT witness Stoughton, the vice-president of customer service and regulatory compliance, testified that every customer who enrolls with IDT is mailed a welcome letter and a copy of the IDT disclosure statement that indicates the offer is for a variable rate that could be higher or lower than the utility’s rate and that there is no ceiling to that rate.  Tr. 29-31.  The disclosure statement and sales agreement sponsored by Mr. Stoughton that was admitted into the record are generic and not specific to Mr. Kiback.  IDT Exh. No. 2.  Mr. Stoughton further testified that “every telemarketing agent on behalf of IDT is trained on IDT’s products and promotions.  They’re provided a detailed script to explain its promotions and it’s made clear to every agent that they never guarantee that a customer will realize savings by switching to IDT beyond any promotional offer.”  Tr. 33.

On cross examination, however, Mr. Stoughton was questioned by counsel for the OCA regarding the telephone call Mr. Kiback referenced when he initially enrolled with IDT.  During that cross-examination, Mr. Stoughton admitted that the Company has no evidence regarding the specific sales call made to Mr. Kiback to specifically rebut what Mr. Kiback testified he was told by the sales agent.  As Mr. Stoughton testified:

Q.	Do you have recordings of every incoming and outgoing sales call performed by IDT?

A.	No.

Q.	Were you on the sales call or any sales call with Mr. Kiback?

A.	No.

Q.	Have you ever heard a recording of a sales call with Mr. Kiback specifically on it?

A.	No.

Tr. 39.  As a result, IDT has provided no evidence to rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony that he was told during the sales call that he would be charged by IDT a rate that was lower than PPL’s rate.  In particular, if no recording of the sales call is available, IDT could have presented the testimony of the sales agent that spoke with Mr. Kiback.  At a minimum, IDT could have presented a copy of the sales script Mr. Stoughton averred the sales agents are trained to use.  Such information is fundamental to rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony regarding what he was told when he was called by a telemarketer seeking to enroll him in IDT’s electric generation service.  Mr. Kiback’s testimony is more credible when weighed against the paucity of evidence presented by IDT regarding the sales call.

As noted above, if a complainant establishes a prima facie case, the burden of going forward with the evidence shifts to the utility.  See, Replogle, supra.  If a utility does not rebut that evidence, the complainant will prevail.  Id.  In this case, IDT has failed to rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony regarding information he was told when he was contacted by a telemarketer seeking to have him enroll with IDT.  Record evidence demonstrating that Mr. Kiback was told that his rate would be less than PPL’s violates the Commission’s regulation regarding telemarketing because either IDT or its agent “failed to disclose truthfully and in a clear and conspicuous manner the total cost to purchase, receive or use” electric generation service from IDT and all material restrictions, limitations or conditions to receive electric generation service from IDT before Mr. Kiback consented to pay for the goods or services.  Instead, as Mr. Kiback testified, IDT’s sales agent told him he would be charged 10% less than the PPL rate but that was not always the case.  In fact, record evidence demonstrates that Mr. Kiback was charged more than IDT’s sales agent represented to him he would be charged on two bills – January, 2014 and February, 2014.  Tr. 9, 12-13 (comparing IDT’s rate per kilowatt hour with PPL’s rate per kilowatt hour).  

Contrary to the third party verification process that is recorded by an EGS to confirm a customer’s agreement to enroll with the Company, there was no recording presented of the sales call made to Mr. Kiback from IDT or its agent that preceded the third party verification to rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony regarding what the sales agent told him his rate would be.  The conversation with the sales agent is a separate and distinct conversation from the conversation during the third party verification and is subject specifically to Section 111.10 of the Commission’s regulations governing telemarketing.  The conversation between the customer and the sales agent is critical in the development of a proper market for the competitive provision of electric generation service.  Yet, in this case, unrebutted record evidence demonstrates that the total cost to purchase, receive or use electric generation service was not truthfully disclosed in a clear and conspicuous manner or that all material restrictions, limitations or conditions were disclosed.  The fact that Mr. Kiback subsequently received a disclosure statement and had a right to rescind the contract does not negate the underlying violation of the Commission’s telemarketing regulation by the sales agent.  See, Tr. 40.

The Commission has recently addressed issues pertaining to oral representations made during sales calls.  In reversing and remanding a decision granting a Motion for Summary Judgment, the Commission determined that the customer is entitled to a hearing regarding what was represented during a sales call.  Yaglidereliler Corporation v. Blue Pilot Energy, LLC, Docket No. C-2014-2413732, Opinion and Order (entered Jan. 16, 2015) (Yaglidereliler). In Yaglidereliler, the Commission noted:  “if, as reasonably inferred from the Complainant’s averments, Blue Pilot’s oral representations undermine the clarity of its written communications, Blue Pilot’s disclosure and marketing could be unclear, misleading, or deceptive in contravention of our Regulations.”  Id. at 19.  The Commission added:

Residential and small business customers, however, are not necessarily well-versed in gas procurement and pricing practices.  For this reason, it is all the more important that they be able to rely on all the information provided by their prospective supplier, whether oral or written, and that all disclosures be clear and unequivocal.  If the complainant [was] led to believe through oral communications that although variable, his rate would remain competitive and reasonable, that may have a bearing on the proprietary of Blue Pilot’s marketing practices.

Id. at 20.  Although the decision in Yaglidereliler was not dispositive of that case but instead remanded the complaint for a further proceeding, the Commission’s discussion of the issue applies to the facts presented here.  The Commission’s decision makes clear that oral representations made to a consumer during the time of the sale are important.  See also, Id. at 22, quoting, William Towne v. Great American Power, LLC, Docket No. C-2012-2307991, Order (entered Oct. 18, 2013) (William Towne).

In this case, IDT did not rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony that he was told by a sales agent that he would receive a rate lower than PPLs because it did not provide any recording, or any other evidence, regarding that portion of the sales call.  In contrast, Mr. Kiback clearly stated that he would not have switched to IDT if he was not told by the sales agent that the rate would be less than PPL’s rate.  Mr. Kiback’s testimony regarding what he was told by the sales agent is credible.  The representations made by the sales agent failed to disclose truthfully in a clear and conspicuous manner the total cost to purchase electric generation service from IDT or any material conditions to receive such service from IDT.  IDT witness Stoughton’s testimony that the Company trains its telemarketing agent to explain to customers that IDT’s prices are not or will not be guaranteed to be below the utility’s prices and provides a detailed script to explain its promotions does not sufficiently rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony on this issue.  Nor is it sufficient to negate a violation of the Commission’s telemarketing regulations that Mr. Kiback was subsequently sent a disclosure statement and had a right to rescind the contract.  Tr. 40.  IDT has not provided any evidence to rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony.  Therefore, substantial record evidence demonstrates that IDT violated Section 111.10(a)(3) of the Commission’s regulations.

As noted above, the Commission has additional regulations regarding other interactions between a customer and an EGS – i.e., the disclosure statement, receipt of service, billing for service, etc.  In particular, Section 54.4 requires that EGS bills “must reflect the marketed prices and the agreed upon prices in the disclosure statement.”  52 Pa.Code § 54.4(a).  In this case, the record evidence discussed above demonstrating that IDT’s sales agent told Mr. Kiback that his rate would be less than PPLs but that his bills for January, 2014 and February, 2014 did not reflect as such supports a finding that IDT’s prices billed did not reflect the marketed prices.  As such, substantial record evidence demonstrates that IDT violated Section 54.4 of the Commission’s regulations regarding bill format.

With regard to these other interactions between Mr. Kiback and IDT, Mr. Kiback has failed to carry his burden to present substantial record evidence demonstrating that IDT’s actions in any way violated the Public Utility Code or any Commission Order or regulation.  For example, during the hearing, a tape of the third party verification was presented but not admitted into the record.  Tr. 19-23.[footnoteRef:1]  As such, there is no demonstration that an unauthorized switch – i.e., slamming – has occurred.  Record evidence in this proceeding demonstrates only that IDT violated the Commission’s telemarketing regulation and bill format regulation.   [1:  	During the telephonic hearing, counsel for IDT presented a recording of the third party verification for Mr. Kiback’s account.  The OCA objected to the recording being played because a copy had not been provided prior to the hearing.  At that time, IDT determined not to play the recording.  IDT was directed to provide the OCA and Mr. Kiback a copy of the recording within five days of the hearing and that the parties then had ten days if they wanted the tape admitted into the record.  Tr. 19-26.  No party moved for the admission into the record of the third party verification recording regarding Mr. Kiback’s account.
] 


As a result, a civil penalty is appropriate in light of the violation of the Commission’s regulation regarding telemarketing and bill format and a refund to Mr. Kiback is appropriate for the amount he was over billed. 

With regard to the civil penalty, the Commission has set forth, in a statement of policy, the factors and standards for determining appropriate civil penalty amounts.  52 Pa.Code § 69.1201(c); see also, Rosi v. Bell Atlantic-Pa., Inc. and Sprint Communications Company, Docket No. C-0092409, Final Order (entered February 10, 2000).  These factors and standards are as follows:

(1)	Whether the conduct at issue was of a serious nature.  When conduct of a serious nature is involved, such as willful fraud or misrepresentation, the conduct may warrant a higher penalty.  When the conduct is less egregious, such as administrative filing or technical errors, it may warrant a lower penalty.

(2)	Whether the resulting consequences of the conduct at issue were of a serious nature.  When consequences of a serious nature are involved, such as personal injury or property damage, the consequences may warrant a higher penalty.

(3)	Whether the conduct at issue was deemed intentional or negligent.  This factor may only be considered in evaluating litigated cases.  When conduct has been deemed intentional, the conduct may result in a higher penalty.

(4)	Whether the regulated entity made efforts to modify internal practices and procedures to address the conduct at issue and prevent similar conduct in the future.  These modifications may include activities such as training and improving company techniques and supervision.  The amount of time it took the utility to correct the conduct once it was discovered and the involvement of top-level management in correcting the conduct may be considered.

(5)	The number of customers affected and the duration of the violation.

(6)	The compliance history of the regulated entity which committed the violation.  An isolated incident from an otherwise compliant utility may result in a lower penalty, whereas frequent, recurrent violations by a utility may result in a higher penalty.
(7)	Whether the regulated entity cooperated with the Commission’s investigation.  Facts establishing bad faith, active concealment of violations, or attempts to interfere with Commission investigations may result in a higher penalty.

(8)	The amount of the civil penalty or fine necessary to deter future violations.  The size of the utility may be considered to determine an appropriate penalty amount.

(9)	Past Commission decisions in similar situations.

(10) 	Other relevant factors.

With regard to the first factor, whether the conduct was of a serious nature, this factor supports a higher penalty.  Mr. Kiback testified that he was told by the sales agent that his rate would remain below PPL’s, yet, Mr. Kiback was billed rates higher than PPL’s rate in January, 2014 and February, 2014.  Therefore, record evidence supports a finding that the actions of IDT’s agent constitute misrepresentation.  The sales agent’s actions were not less egregious conduct such as an administrative filing or a technical error.  It is, therefore, reasonable to find that the conduct by a telemarketing sales agent demonstrated in this case was of a serious nature.

With regard to the second factor, whether the resulting consequences of the conduct at issue were of a serious nature, this factor supports a lower penalty.  Although the conduct resulted in Mr. Kiback paying more for electric generation service than he should have, Mr. Kiback did not sustain any personal injury or property damage resulting from the sales agent’s conduct.  

With regard to the third factor, whether the conduct was deemed intentional or negligent, this factor also supports a higher penalty.  Mr. Stoughton testified that its sales agents are trained not to guarantee certain rates beyond a promotional period and are given detailed scripts.  Yet, in this situation, a sales agent indicated to Mr. Kiback that his rate would be lower than PPLs.  When an agent acting on behalf of IDT violates a Commission regulation, IDT is responsible.  Such conduct is intentional and supports imposing a higher civil penalty.

With regard to the fourth factor, whether the regulated entity made efforts to modify its practices and procedures to address the conduct at issue and prevent similar occurrences, this factor also supports imposing a higher civil penalty.  There is no record evidence that demonstrates that IDT has made any changes to its practices and procedures as a result of the conduct evident in Mr. Kiback’s case.  As noted above, Mr. Stoughton testified that its sales agents are trained and provided scripts but this action was done before the occurrences that give rise to Mr. Kiback’s Complaint occurred.  Record evidence demonstrates that IDT offered refunds to Mr. Kiback but such evidence does not support a finding that the Company made efforts to modify its practices and procedures to address the conduct at issue and prevent similar occurrences.

With regard to the fifth factor, the number of customers affected and the duration of the violation, this factor supports a lower penalty, but imposition of that penalty twice because record evidence demonstrates that two separate occurrences took place – January, 2014 and February, 2014.  There is no record evidence, however, that demonstrates that more than Mr. Kiback was affected.  Nonetheless, the civil penalty will be imposed for both occurrences.

With regard to the sixth factor, the compliance history of the regulated entity which committed the violation, this factor will not be considered when determining the appropriate penalty to impose because there is no record evidence regarding IDT’s compliance history.

With regard to the seventh factor, whether the regulated entity cooperated with the Commission’s investigation, this factor is not relevant to this proceeding and will not be considered when determining an appropriate civil penalty because this proceeding does not involve a Commission investigation.

With regard to the eighth factor, the amount of the civil penalty necessary to deter future violations, this factor supports imposing a higher penalty.  The Commission has recognized that, in order for market forces to work, misleading statements will not be tolerated.  William Towne, supra.  As a result, a higher civil penalty is appropriate to deter future violations by IDT.

With regard to the ninth factor, past Commission decisions in similar cases, this factor also supports a higher civil penalty.  As noted above, the Commission recently determined in Yaglidereliler, supra, that oral representations made to consumers at the time of sale are important.  A higher civil penalty in this case will be consistent with past Commission decisions that all disclosures by electric generation suppliers, whether oral or written, must be clear and unequivocal.

With regard to the tenth factor, other relevant factors, this factor also supports a higher civil penalty.  It is relevant that IDT did not present any recording of the sales call to rebut Mr. Kiback’s assertions.  Only a recording of the third party verification was presented, although it was never admitted into the record.  The failure to present any recording of the sales call to specifically rebut Mr. Kiback’s assertions warrants a higher civil penalty.

When considering each factor in the civil penalty analysis provided by Section 69.1201 of the Commission’s regulations, it is appropriate that a civil penalty of $2,000 be imposed on IDT for violations of the Public Utility Code discussed above.  This penalty comprises two $1,000 penalties – one for each month of January, 2014 and February, 2014 where record evidence demonstrates that Mr. Kiback was charged more than the PPL rate, contrary to what he was told by IDT’s sales agent.

With regard to Mr. Kiback’s request for a refund, the Commission has recently addressed this issue in Commonwealth of Pa, et al. v. IDT Energy, Inc., Docket No. C-2014-2427657, Opinion and Order (entered Dec. 18, 2014) (IDT Order).  In the IDT Order, the Commission responded to a Petition for Interlocutory Review questioning, among other things, whether the Commission has authority under Section 1312 of the Public Utility Code to order EGSs to issue refunds to customers.  In answering the question in the negative, the Commission relied on its plenary authority under Section 501 of the Public Utility Code to direct an EGS to issue a credit or refund for an over bill.  Id. at 17, citing, 66 Pa.C.S. § 501 (“in addition to any powers expressly enumerated in this part, the commission shall have full power and authority, and it shall be its duty to enforce, execute and carry out, by its regulations, orders or otherwise, all and singular, the provisions of this part, and the full intent thereof”).  The Commission noted that its “powers have been interpreted broadly to include both the express powers conferred by the Code and those implied powers necessarily implicit in the Code” and stated:

Directing a billing adjustment for an EGS over bill of supply charges is within the Commission’s Section 501 powers to carry out the consumer protections in the Electric Competition Act that are applicable to competitive electricity generation supply service.  These consumer protections include the Section 2809(b) requirement that EGSs comply with the Commission’s regulations, including the Chapter 54 billing and disclosure regulations.

Id.  The Commission concluded that “ordering EGS billing adjustments for an over bill of supply charges is fully consistent with the policy objectives of the Electric Competition Act as well.”  Id. at 18.

		In this case, as discussed above, record evidence demonstrates that Mr. Kiback was over billed on his January and February, 2014 bills as a result of IDT’s failure to bill prices that reflect the marketed prices.  Tr. 9, 12-13.  IDT will be directed to provide Mr. Kiback a refund for those amounts he was over billed during those months.

In conclusion, oral representations made by a sales agent during the time of sale are important.  When an agent acting on behalf of IDT violates a Commission regulation, IDT is responsible.  Mr. Kiback has satisfied his burden to demonstrate that IDT has violated the Commission’s telemarketing regulation with regard to the sale of electric generation service.  Mr. Kiback testified that a sales representative informed him that his rate would be below PPL’s rate and IDT did not adequately rebut that evidence.  As a result, an IDT sales agent failed to disclose truthfully in a clear and conspicuous manner the total cost to purchase electric generation service from IDT or any material conditions to receive such service from IDT with regard to Mr. Kiback’s January, 2014 and February, 2014 bills and a civil penalty of $2,000 is appropriate.  Mr. Kiback has also satisfied his burden to demonstrate that he is entitled to a refund for those amounts he was over billed.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Section 332(a) of the Public Utility Code provides that the party seeking relief from the Commission has the burden of proof.  66 Pa.C.S. § 332(a).
2. "Burden of proof" means a duty to establish a fact by a preponderance of the evidence, or evidence more convincing, by even the smallest degree, than the evidence presented by the other party.  Se-Ling Hosiery v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 54, 70 A.2d 854 (1950).

3. If a complainant establishes a prima facie case, the burden of going forward with the evidence shifts to the utility.  If a utility does not rebut that evidence, the complainant will prevail.  If the utility rebuts the complainant's evidence, the burden of going forward with the evidence shifts back to the complainant, who must rebut the utility's evidence by a preponderance of the evidence.  The burden of going forward with the evidence may shift from one party to another, but the burden of proof never shifts; it always remains on a complainant.  Replogle v. Pennsylvania Electric Company, 54 Pa. PUC 528 (1980), and Waldron v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 54 Pa. PUC 98 (1980).

4. The decision of the Commission must be supported by substantial evidence.  2 Pa.C.S. § 704.

5. "Substantial evidence" is such relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  More is required than a mere trace of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact sought to be established.  Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 489 Pa. 109, 413 A.2d 1037 (1980); Erie Resistor Corp. v. Unemployment Comp. Bd. of Review, 194 Pa. Superior Ct. 278, 166 A.2d 96 (1961); and Murphy v. Comm., Dept. of Public Welfare, White Haven Center, 85 Pa. Cmwlth Ct. 23, 480 A.2d 382 (1984).

6. A supplier and its agent shall comply with the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act (15 U.S.C.A. §§ 6101-6108) and 16 CFR Part 310 (relating to telemarketing sales rule). 52 Pa.Code § 111.10(a)(3).

7. Before a customer consents to pay for goods or services offered, failing to disclose truthfully, in a clear and conspicuous manner, the total costs to purchase, receive or use, 


and the quantity of, any goods or services that are the subject of the sales offer and all material restrictions, limitations or conditions to purchase, receive, or use the goods or services that are the subject of the sales offer, is prohibited.  16 CFR § 310.3(a)(1)(i)-(ii).  

8. Misrepresenting, directly or by implication, in the sale of goods or services the total costs to purchase, receive, or use, and the quantity of, any goods or services that are subject to a sales offer or any material restriction, limitation or condition to purchase, receive, or use goods or services that are the subject of a sales offer, is prohibited.  16 CFR § 310.3(a)(2). 

9. If a complainant was led to believe through oral communications that, although variable, his rate would remain competitive and reasonable, that may have a bearing on the proprietary of marketing practices.  Yaglidereliler Corporation v. Blue Pilot Energy, LLC, Docket No. C-2014-2413732, Opinion and Order (entered Jan. 16, 2015).

10. Section 3301 of the Public Utility Code authorizes the Commission to impose a maximum civil penalty of $1,000.00 per day for violations of the statute, regulations and orders.  66 Pa.C.S. § 3301.

11. The Commission has adopted certain standards that must be applied when imposing a civil penalty for violations of Commission directives and regulations.  See, 52 Pa.Code § 69.1201; see also, Joseph A. Rosi v. Bell Atlantic- Pa., Inc. and Sprint Communications Company, Docket No. C‑00992409, Order (entered February 10, 2000).

12. Electric generation service provider bills must reflect the marketed prices and the agreed upon prices in the disclosure statement.  52 Pa.Code § 54.4(a).

13. The Commission has plenary authority under Section 501 of the Public Utility Code to direct an electric generation supplier to issue a credit or refund for an over bill.  Commonwealth of Pa, et al. v. IDT Energy, Inc., Docket No. C-2014-2427657, Opinion and Order (entered Dec. 18, 2014) at 17.

14. In addition to any powers expressly enumerated in this part, the commission shall have full power and authority, and it shall be its duty to enforce, execute and carry out, by its regulations, orders or otherwise, all and singular, the provisions of this part, and the full intent thereof.  66 Pa.C.S. § 501.

15. Mr. Kiback has satisfied his burden of proof to demonstrate that IDT violated the Commission’s regulation regarding telemarketing and bill format when providing Mr. Kiback with electric generation service.

16. Mr. Kiback has satisfied his burden of proof to demonstrate that he is entitled to a refund from IDT for the amounts billed in January, 2014 and February, 2014.

ORDER

		THEREFORE,

		IT IS ORDERED:

1. That the formal Complaint of Stephen Kiback, Jr. against IDT Energy, Inc. at Docket Number C-2014-2409676 dated March 3, 2014 is hereby sustained.

1. That IDT Energy, Inc. shall pay a civil penalty of $2,000 due to the multiple violations of Sections 54.4 and 111.10(a)(3) of the Commission’s regulations.

1. That IDT Energy, Inc. shall pay a total of $2,000 by sending a certified check or money order payable to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, within thirty (30) days from the entry of the Final Commission Order to:

Secretary
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission
P.O. Box 3265
Harrisburg, PA  17105-3265

1. That the request of Stephen Kiback, Jr. for a refund is granted and IDT Energy, Inc. is directed to issue Mr. Kiback a refund for the amount he was over billed in January, 2014 and February, 2014.

1. That this matter be marked closed.


Date:	January 30, 2015			/s/			
		Joel H. Cheskis
		Administrative Law Judge
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